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I.
BY THE COMMISSION

A. Statement

1. This matter comes before the Commission for consideration of exceptions filed by Respondent, Custom Towing, Inc. (Custom), regarding the findings of the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) in Recommended Decision No. R02-860 (Recommended Decision) concerning a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by Commission Staff (Staff) against Custom.  Staff alleged that Custom violated certain Rules, Regulations, and Civil Penalties Governing Towing Carriers by Motor Vehicle at 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-9 (Towing Carrier Rules).

2. Specifically, in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 27673, Staff alleged that Custom violated Rule 16.5 of the Towing Carrier Rules, effective from March 2, 1997 through June 30, 2001 (1997 Towing Rules), on 68 separate occasions by charging and collecting storage fees exceeding those allowed by Rule 16.5.  The CPAN further alleged that Custom violated the provisions of Rule 17.7.2 of the 2001 Towing Carrier Rules currently in effect relating to storage charges for non-consensual tows on 157 separate occasions.  The CPAN sought a civil penalty in the amount of $90,000.

3. A hearing on the matter was heard on June 27, 2002.  On August 8, 2002, the ALJ issued his Recommended Decision, where he found that Staff sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 1 through 68 of the CPAN by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  However, the ALJ found that Staff failed to sustain its burden of proof regarding the allegations contained in Counts 69 through 225.

4. Finding that Custom exceeded the lawful charges by only $349.20, and because Custom’s prior record of compliance with the Towing Carrier Rules was exemplary, the ALJ assessed a penalty of $100.00 for each violation described in Counts 1 through 68 of the CPAN for a total assessed penalty of $6,800.00.

5. Addressing the constitutional issues raised by Custom in its Statement of Position (SOP), the ALJ also found that Rule 16.5 of the 1997 Towing Rules was not constitutionally invalid.  The ALJ found that other constitutional challenges made by Custom were barred as impermissible collateral attacks or were brought in the wrong venue.

6. On August 26, 2002, Custom filed exceptions to the Recommended Decision.  Custom also filed transcripts of the hearing.  Regarding the penalties imposed by the ALJ, Custom argues that the Recommended Decision should have recognized the existence of three distinct storage periods rather than one period that extended for 225 days.  Custom also makes several constitutional arguments regarding the validity of the Towing Carrier Rules.

7. In its response, Staff argues that Custom’s constitutional arguments are without merit, are barred as impermissible collateral attacks, and are brought in the wrong venue.  With regard to Custom’s arguments regarding the imposition of the civil penalties, Staff argues that there was in fact only one time period consisting of 225 days to consider in the imposition of the penalties, and the storage at all times during the 225-day period constituted non-consensual storage.

8. Now, being duly advised in the premises, we grant the exceptions in part and deny them in part consistent with the discussion below.

B. Background

9. On April 23, 2001, the Adams County Sheriff notified Custom Towing
 that, pursuant to an Eagle County Court order, it was to tow a motor home belonging to a Mr. William Twyford to its facilities in Denver, Colorado, pending the outcome of a civil matter in that court.  The motor home remained in storage from April 24, 2001 until December 4, 2001.

10. On September 24, 2001, Custom received notification from the Adams County Sheriff’s Office that the motor home could be released to Mr. Twyford.  That same day, Mr. Twyford contacted Custom regarding the release of the motor home.  Custom advised Mr. Twyford that the fee for storage of the motor home up to September 24, 2001 was $4,650 (155 days storage at the $30.00 per day rate).  Mr. Twyford indicated to Custom that he did not have the money at that time and requested that the motor home remain in storage at the $30.00 per day rate until he was able to secure its release.

11. On November 6, 2001, the accrued storage charges reached $5,910 at the $30.00 per day rate.  On this date, Mr. Twyford and Custom entered into an agreement whereby Custom would reduce the storage charge to $5,500 if Mr. Twyford paid a $1,000 deposit and made additional payments until the $5,500 balance was paid off.  Custom also agreed to suspend further accrual of storage charges pending payment of the remaining $4,500 storage charge.  Mr. Twyford defaulted on the agreement.

12. Following a series of unfruitful settlement discussions with Mr. Twyford, Custom requested owner and lien-holder information from the Colorado Department of Revenue to initiate procedures to bond a title to the motor home in its name, and discovered that a lien-holder on the motor home existed.  On November 26, 2002, Custom contacted the lien-holder by letter regarding the $5,500 balance.  On December 4, 2001, the lien-holder paid Custom $5,500 at which time Custom released the motor home to the lien-holder.

13. The lien-holder subsequently contacted Commission Staff regarding the storage charges.  After conducting an investigation, Staff issued CPAN No. 27673.

14. According to the CPAN, Custom violated Rule 4 CCR 723-9-16.5 a total of 68 times between April 24, 2001 and June 30, 2001 by charging and collecting storage fees at rates exceeding the rates prescribed by Rule 16.5.  Rule 16.5 of the 1997 Towing Rules provides as follows:

Storage Charges for Non-Consensual Tows.  After the first twenty-four hour period of storage is exceeded, the maximum storage charge for each successive one (1) hour period shall be no greater than $.65 per hour for private property tows.  Storage charges for all other non-consensual tows shall not exceed $.65 per hour.

The CPAN further alleged that Custom violated Rule 4 CCR 723-9-17.7.2 a total of 157 times between July 1, 2001 and December 4, 2001 by charging and collecting storage fees at rates exceeding the rates for a vehicle exceeding 10,000 pounds prescribed by Rule 17.7.2 (which went into affect on July 1, 2001 and superseded Rule 16.5).  Rule 17.7.2 provides in pertinent part as follows:

Storage Charges for Other Non-Consensual Tows.  Storage charges for other non-consensual tows may commence immediately on placing the motor vehicle in storage ... Storage charges for motor vehicles having a GVWR of 10,000 pounds or more shall not exceed twenty-six dollars ($26.00) per day for a power unit ...

Therefore, according to the CPAN, Custom overcharged for storage of the motor home on 225 occasions.

15. In the Recommended Decision, the ALJ determined that the most reasonable method to calculate the charges imposed by Custom was to convert the $5,500 flat rate to an average daily charge for all days it stored the motor home.  Dividing $5,500 by 225 days, the ALJ formulated that the average daily storage charge assessed by Custom was approximately $24.44 for the time period in question.

16. The average daily storage charge calculated by the ALJ exceeded the $15.60 daily charge allowed by Rule 16.5 of the 1997 Towing Rules.  Consequently, the ALJ found that Custom violated Rule 16.5 on the 68 occasions listed in Counts 1 through 68 of the CPAN.  Because the calculated $24.44 average daily rate was less than the $26.00 daily charge authorized by Rule 17.7.2 of the 2001 Towing Rules, the ALJ found that Custom did not violate that rule on the 157 occasions set forth in Counts 69 through 225 of the CPAN.  As a result, those counts were dismissed.

17. The ALJ also addressed Custom’s constitutional challenges made in its SOP.  Specifically, Custom challenged the constitutionality of § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., and the manner in which the 1997 and 2001 Towing Rules were applied in this CPAN proceeding.

18. Custom’s challenge to § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., was dismissed by the ALJ because this Commission does not have jurisdiction to determine whether a statute it administers is facially unconstitutional.  Citing, Horrell v. Department of Administration, 861 P.2d 1194 (Colo. 1993).  The ALJ determined that Custom must raise this argument in a different venue, specifically, the district court where a party may seek a declaratory order.  Citing, Arapahoe Roofing & Sheet Metal v. Denver, 831 P.2d 451 (Colo. 1992).

19. Custom further argues that the Commission improperly established the storage charge in its rulemaking proceedings.  Custom urges that in establishing the storage rates in the 1997 and 2001 Towing Rules, the Commission failed to make a “mandatory” determination of the cost of providing storage services prior to prescribing the effective rate.  Therefore, Custom, without reference to specific constitutional provisions, or applicable case law, posits that the storage rates are constitutionally invalid or confiscatory.

20. The ALJ held that Custom’s constitutional challenges to the validity of Rule 16.5 were without merit and constituted an impermissible collateral attack on the prior Commission decision adopting the Rule pursuant to § 40-6-112(2), C.R.S.  Citing, Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. PUC, 186 Colo. 260, 527 P.2d 524 (1974).  Even if Custom’s claims were not barred as a collateral attack, the ALJ found its argument that the Commission must make a determination of the cost of service as a prerequisite to prescribing a towing carrier storage rate was without merit.

21. Instead, the ALJ found persuasive Staff’s testimony that in setting the storage rates, the Commission engaged in a form of “cost-based ratemaking.”  According to Staff’s testimony, the storage rate in Rule 16.5 was determined on the basis of average statewide prices assessed by towing carriers for storage services that were reasonably assumed to be higher than the costs for providing storage services.

22. Given the discretion afforded the Commission pursuant to § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., to determine the manner in which towing carrier rates are to be set, the ALJ concluded that the “percent of averages method” utilized by the Commission to establish the Rule 16.5 rates was sufficient to satisfy any requirement that it engage in a “cost-of-service” analysis to establish the storage charge.

23. Having dismissed Counts 69 through 225 of the CPAN, the ALJ assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $100.00 each for Counts 1 through 68 and ordered that Custom pay a penalty of $6,800.00 within ten days of the effective date of the Recommended Decision.

C. Custom’s Exceptions

24. In its exceptions to the Recommended Decision, Custom urges that the ALJ failed to acknowledge the existence of three distinct storage periods during the time it held the motor home and as a result, the Recommended Decision unlawfully mixes consensual and non-consensual storage periods in violation of 49 U.S.C. 14501(C).

25. According to Custom, storage Period I extended 68 days from April 23, 2001, the date Custom began storage of the motor home, to June 30, 2001 and was governed by Rule 16.5.  Period II extended 86 days from July 1, 2001, when Rule 16.5 was repealed and Rule 17.7.2 became effective, through September 23, 2001, the date the district court released the motor home back to Mr. Twyford.  Period III was from September 25, 2001, when Mr. Twyford agreed to continued storage of the motor home at the $30.00 per day rate, to December 4, 2001, when the motor home’s lien-holders retrieved the vehicle.

26. A non-consensual tow (and therefore storage as it is related concomitantly, according to Custom) is defined at Rule 4 CCR 723-9-2.9 (and former Rule 4 CCR 723-9-2.7) as “... a tow authorized or directed by a person other than the owner, authorized operator, or authorized agent of the owner.”  Therefore, Custom posits that since Mr. Twyford, the legal owner of the motor home, personally requested storage of the motor home at Custom from September 24, 2001 forward (the time identified by Custom as Period III) and agreed to the $30.00 storage rate, this was consensual storage.

27. Custom also points out that the ALJ ignored an important jurisdictional distinction by including the Period III time in the calculation to determine the CPAN violations.  By mixing consensual and non-consensual storage periods, Custom argues that the Recommended Decision violated 49 USC § 14501(c) that restricts jurisdiction by this Commission over the price, route, or service of motor property carriers.

28. In Commission Decision No. C96-538
 issued May 28, 1996, the Commission determined that 49 USC § 14501(c) included preemption of towing carrier regulations, except as to non-consensual towing and storage.  As a result, Custom concludes that since Period III involved consensual storage, the Commission lacked jurisdiction over that period which extended from September 25, 2001 to December 4, 2001.

Custom also argues that it was error for the ALJ to determine violations of Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 by arithmetically calculating an average daily rate of collection, $5,500 divided by 225 days, to conclude that $24.44 was the average daily rate collected by Custom.  According to Custom, 

whether a towing carrier violates Rule 16.5 or Rule 17.7.2 must be determined by what is actually collected per day as determined by the then controlling rule.

29. By Custom’s calculations, for Period I, Rule 16.5 allowed $15.60 per day for 68 days, or a total of $1,060.80.  For Period II, Rule 17.7.2 allowed $26.00 per day for 86 days, or a total of $2,236.00.  As such, $3,296.80 was the maximum non-consensual storage fee allowed.  No further investigation was necessary since, according to Custom, 49 USC § 14501 precluded any Commission authority because the storage during Period III was consensual.  Custom urges that given its line of reasoning, the Commission should only consider the 154 days that constitute Periods I and II, which requires that the CPAN be dismissed for failure to prove a violation of Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 during these periods.

30. In its exceptions, Custom again raises its constitutional arguments previously addressed in its SOP.  Because the rate set in Rule 16.5 was established utilizing a price survey, Custom contends that as applied in this case, the rate is an unlawful confiscation since it does not accurately reflect the cost of storing a vehicle that takes up two spaces in Custom’s storage lot.

31. Rather, Custom argues that it should have been allowed to charge the lawful rate under Rule 16.5 ($15.60 per day) for two spaces.  Applying Rule 16.5 in this manner, Custom determines that it could have charged $31.20 per day, so it did not violate the rule.  By Custom’s reasoning, any other application would result in unconstitutional confiscation.

32. Custom raises several other constitutional arguments.  First, it again raises the claim that § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., is unconstitutional because it does not allow territorial monopoly as an “exchange for rate prescription.”

33. Custom also asserts that the rates prescribed in Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 did not establish a determination of cost of service nor a reasonable profit margin as required by Public Service Company, Inc. v. P.U.C., 644 P.2d 933 (Colo. 1982) and City of Montrose v. P.U.C., 197 Colo. 119, 590 P.2d 502 (Colo. 1979).  Custom takes exception to the ALJ’s analysis dismissing this argument where he held that those decisions apply only to public utilities, while towing carriers are not defined as public utilities pursuant to § 40-13-102, C.R.S.

34. In determining a prescribed rate for towing carriers, Custom argues that the Commission must make a determination of the actual cost of service as outlined in Public Service and City of Montrose, supra.  Without a determination of the cost-of-service for towing and storage services, Custom concludes that the rates prescribed in Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 are confiscatory and unconstitutional.

35. Finally, Custom makes an Equal Protection Clause argument asserting that by setting a non-consensual storage rate in disparity from consensual storage rates, the Commission has attempted to create a favored class of customers.  Because the Recommended Decision seeks to limit constitutional privileges, Custom reasons that the decision is a misstatement and misapplication of law.

D. Staff’s Response

36. Staff indicates that it is in agreement with the ALJ that Custom’s constitutional arguments are without merit.  Regarding Custom’s arguments as to the constitutionality of § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., the Recommended Decision holds, and Staff agrees that the district court, not this Commission, is the proper venue for this issue, where the parties can seek a declaratory judgment.

37. Contrary to Custom’s arguments, Staff urges that Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 were properly promulgated.  The Commission’s authority to promulgate Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 arises from § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., that authorizes the Commission to establish maximum rates for the storage of towed vehicles.  Staff points out that Rule 16.5 of the 1997 Towing Rules setting a maximum rate of $15.60 per day for stored vehicles was adopted after a proper rulemaking procedure based on factual information taken from towing carrier rate sheets that sufficiently established that the rates were compensatory.

38. These rules, according to Staff, were properly noticed and afforded all interested persons a full and fair opportunity to participate.  No exceptions were filed to the adoption of the rules nor was judicial review of the rates adopted in the 1997 rulemaking proceedings sought.  Consequently, Staff concludes that the 1997 Towing Rules are presumed to be valid.  Further, Staff finds Custom’s attack on the rules constitutes an impermissible collateral attack pursuant to § 40-6-112(2), C.R.S.

39. Staff also argues that even if not barred as a collateral attack, Custom’s arguments regarding Rules 16.5 and 17.7.2 are fatally flawed.  According to Staff, Custom’s arguments that the Commission should have included cost of service and profit margin determinations in the ratemaking are applicable only to public utilities.  See § 40-3-101, C.R.S., et seq.  Although towing carriers are affected with a public interest, they are not public utilities pursuant to § 40-13-102, C.R.S., therefore, Staff concludes that the Commission’s rate prescription power does not apply to the limited towing carrier ratemaking power to prescribe maximum storage charges that are articulated in § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S.  Staff urges that this same argument negates Custom’s Equal Protection argument and its reliance on a violation of § 40-3-106, C.R.S.

40. Staff also finds fault with Custom’s argument that the ALJ should have considered three distinct periods of time vis-à-vis the storage period of the motor home.  Staff further disagrees with Custom that the non-consensual nature of the storage concluded on September 24, 2001.

41. By Staff’s reasoning, a consensual tow resulting in storage requires that the tow be authorized by the owner, authorized operator, or authorized agent of the owner.  Here, according to Staff, Mr. Twyford was required to inherit charges of at least $4,560 on September 24, 2001 that are undisputedly related to a non-consensual tow.  His inability to come up with the funds necessary to obtain the release of his motor home and the continued accrual of storage fees to the amount of $5,910 as of November 6, 2001 demonstrates the absence of a consensual relationship with Custom Towing during any of the 225 days at issue.  Therefore, Staff concludes that the non-consensual nature of the tow and storage continued in place until December 4, 2001, when the lien-holders obtained the release of the motor home.

E. Analysis

42. We agree with the Recommended Decision and with Staff that Custom’s constitutional arguments are flawed, are barred by statute, or were brought in the wrong venue.  The ALJ’s analysis that Custom’s constitutional challenge of § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., was improperly brought before this Commission is likewise sound.

43. We concur with the ALJ that Arapahoe Roofing & Sheet Metal supra, holds that administrative agencies do not have authority to pass on the constitutionality of statutes or ordinances (citations omitted).
  When a party wishes to challenge the constitutionality of a state statute under which an administrative agency acts, the proper forum is the district court where the party can seek a declaratory judgment.  Id., citing Kinterknecht v. Industrial Comm’n, 175 Colo. 60, 67, 485 P.2d 721, 724 (1971); Clasby v. Klapper, 636 P.2d 682, 684 n. 6 (Colo. 1981).  Therefore, it was improper for Custom to bring its constitutionality claim regarding § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., to this Commission.

44. The core of Custom’s remaining constitutional arguments centers on the propriety of the storage charge rates established in prior rulemaking proceedings.  Custom contends that the Commission failed to make a “mandatory” determination of the cost of providing storage services prior to prescribing a storage rate.  Therefore, Custom concludes that the established storage rates were constitutionally invalid.

45. Although Custom maintains that the Commission is bound by legal precedent to make a determination of the actual cost of service in determining a prescribed rate for towing carriers, citing Public Service Company, Inc., supra and City of Montrose, supra, we find this argument misplaced.  Rather, we find persuasive Staff’s argument that the constitutional requirements regarding “cost of service” and “profit margin” enumerated by Custom are applicable only to public utilities pursuant to § 40-3-101, C.R.S. et seq.

46. Although towing carriers are affected with a public interest pursuant to § 40-13-102(1), C.R.S., it is explicit that a towing carrier is “...not to be construed to be a public utility...”  § 40-13-102(2), C.R.S.  We further agree with Staff that our rate prescription power pursuant to § 40-3-101, C.R.S. et seq., does not apply to the limited towing carrier ratemaking power to prescribe maximum storage charges set forth at § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S.

47. Notwithstanding this analysis of Custom’s misplaced rate-setting argument, its constitutional challenge to the validity of the storage rates constitutes an impermissible collateral attack on the Commission’s prior decisions adopting those rules.  See, § 40-6-112(2), C.R.S.  The ALJ and Staff adequately presented the history of the storage rate rules to establish that the 1994 and 1997 Towing Rules proceedings were properly noticed, and provided all interested parties with a full and fair opportunity to participate.

48. Rate setting is a “legislative function involving many questions of judgment and discretion.”  Colorado-Ute Electric Association v. Public Utilities Commission, 602 P.2d 861, 864 (Colo. 1979).  It is not an exact science.  Id.  The determination as to what is a fair, just, and reasonable rate is a matter of Commission judgment or discretion.  Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Utilities Commission, 195 Colo. 130, 576 P.2d 544 (Colo. 1978); Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel v. Public Utilities Commission, 786 P.2d 1086 (Colo. 1990).  The Commission is not required to use a specific method.  It needs only a reasonable basis for the method chosen.  Bennet Bear Creek Farm Water and Sanitation District v. City and County of Denver, 928 P.2d 1254, 1268 (Colo. 1996).

49. The record reveals that a number of parties actively participated in the proceedings.  The ALJs in the respective proceedings used a reasoned and well thought out approach to establish the storage rates.  The record further indicates that no party filed exceptions to the recommended decisions adopting the rates.  No towing carrier or towing trade association (the TRPC) filed exceptions nor sought judicial review of the proceedings that adopted the Towing Rules.

50. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the methodology utilized to establish the Towing Rules and therefore the storage rates were unconstitutional or prejudicial to any party affected.  Therefore, even if not barred as a collateral attack, we find Custom’s arguments regarding the constitutionality of the rates in question, including its Equal Protection argument, without merit.

51. We do find persuasive Custom’s argument regarding the methodology utilized by the ALJ to calculate the storage rates it charged.  According to Custom, the ALJ erred in calculating an average daily rate of collection by dividing $5,500 by 225 days to conclude that $24.44 was the average daily rate collected by Custom.  We agree with Custom that rather than calculating an average daily rate of collection for the entire 225-day period the motor home was in storage, the ALJ should have acknowledged the existence of three distinct storage periods.

52. Period I encompassed 68 days (from April 23, 2001 to June 30, 2001) and was governed by Rule 16.5, which allowed a storage fee of $15.60.  For the 68 days of Period I, therefore, the maximum storage fee allowed was $1,060.80.  Period II encompassed 86 days (from July 1, 2001 when Rule 17.7.2 became effective to September 24, 2001) and was governed by Rule 17.7.2, which allowed a storage fee of $26.00 per day.  For the 86 days of Period II, the maximum storage fee allowed was $2,236.00.

53. We are persuaded by Custom that Periods I and II involved non-consensual storage pursuant to 4 CCR 723-9-2.9 (and former Rule 4 CCR 723-9-2.7), that defines “non-consensual” as a “...tow [and therefore storage as it is concomitantly related] authorized or directed by a person other than the owner, authorized operator, or authorized agent of the owner.”

54. Accordingly, we find that the maximum non-consensual storage fee Custom could have charged for Period I pursuant to Rule 16.5 was $15.60 per day or a total of $1,060.80 for the 68 days of Period I.  The maximum non-consensual storage fee Custom could have charged for Period II pursuant to Rule 17.7.2 was $26.00 per day or a total of $2,236.00 for the 86 days of Period II.

55. It is undisputed that Custom charged $30.00 per day for the 68 days of Period I for a total of $2,040.00.  Therefore we find that Custom violated Rule 16.5 by charging $14.40 over the lawful daily storage rate of $15.60 for 68 days for a total overcharge of $979.20 for Period I.

56. Further, we find that Custom charged $30.00 per day for the 86 days of Period II for a total of $2,580.00.  Therefore Custom violated Rule 17.7.2 by charging $4.00 more than the lawful daily storage rate of $26.00 for 86 days for a total overcharge of $344.00 for Period II.  Consequently, we find that Custom overcharged $1,323.20 for the storage of the motor home for Periods I and II.

57. However, we concur with Custom’s argument that storage Period III, which runs from September 25, 2001 to December 4, 2001, the date on which the lien-holders retrieved the motor home, was consensual storage.  The evidence is clear that on September 24, 2001, Mr. Twyford called Custom regarding the release of the motor home by the district court.  It is also uncontroverted that in that phone call to Custom, Mr. Twyford explicitly requested that the motor home remain in storage at the $30.00 per day rate until arrangements could be made for the payment of the accrued storage fees and subsequent release of the motor home.

58. “Consent” is defined as an “[a]greement, approval, or permission as to some act or purpose, especially given voluntarily by a competent person.”  Black’s Law Dictionary, p. 300 (7th ed. 1999).  “Express consent” is defined as “[c]onsent that is clearly and unmistakably stated.”  Id.  Utilizing these definitions, we find that on September 24, 2001, Mr. Twyford expressly consented to storage of the motor home at $30.00 per day until payment could be secured for its release from Custom.

59. We are further persuaded by Custom’s argument that 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c) limits any jurisdiction by this Commission over the price, route, or service of motor property carriers.  In Decision No. C96-538, Docket No. 96M-031 issued on May 28, 1996, the Commission determined that 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c) included preemption of towing carrier regulation, except as to non-consensual towing and storage.  Since Period III involved consensual storage, this Commission lacks jurisdiction over the storage rates charged by Custom for this period.

60. Therefore, we uphold the ALJ’s finding that Staff sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 1 through 68 of CPAN No. 27673 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  We determine that it would not be equitable to assess Custom the maximum penalty of $400 for each violation given that the assessed storage charges only exceeded the lawful rate by $979.20 for the 68 days of Period I.

61. We take note of Custom’s prior exemplary record of compliance with the Towing Carrier Rules.  Accordingly, we will impose a penalty amount of $30.00 per violation as described in Counts 1 through 68 of CPAN No. 27673.

62. We further find that Staff sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 69 through 154 of the CPAN by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  However, again, given Custom’s exemplary record and the given the fact that it exceeded the total allowable rate by $344.00, we will impose a penalty of $30.00 per violation as described in counts 69 through 154 of CPAN No. 27673.

63. Given the lack of Commission jurisdiction over the period of time involved in Counts 155 through 225 of CPAN No. 27673, those Counts are dismissed.

64. Accordingly we impose a total fine of $4,620.00, the total amount collected by Custom for Periods I and II which runs from April 24, 2001 through September 24, 2001.  However we further require that Custom refund $1,323.20 to the lien-holders for the overcharge for storage of the motor home.  The remaining $3,296.80 shall be paid as a penalty to the Commission for the 68 violations of Rule 16.5 and 86 violations of Rule 17.7.2.

65. Finally, counsel of record for Custom filed a Motion for Leave to Withdraw as Counsel on September 12, 2002.  We find that counsel states good cause for withdrawal and grant the motion.

II.
ORDER

B. The Commission Orders That:

1. The exceptions of Custom Towing, Inc., are granted in part and denied in part consistent with the discussion above.

2. Custom Towing, Inc., is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $30.00 each in connection with Counts 1 through 154 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 27673 and shall pay a total assessed penalty of $4,620.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

3. Of the $4,620.00 penalty assessed in Ordering Paragraph No. 2, $1,323.20 shall be refunded to lien-holder Ms. Betty Criscoe as the total overpayment in Counts 1 through 154 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 27673.

4. Of the $4,620.00 penalty assessed in Ordering Paragraph No. 2, $3,296.80 shall be paid to the Commission.

5. The motion by Mr. James A. Beckwith to withdraw as counsel of record for Custom Towing, Inc., is granted.

6. This Order is effective on its Mailed Date.

C. ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS’ WEEKLY MEETING
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� Custom Towing provides commercial towing services within the State of Colorado pursuant to a permit issued by the Commission.


� This converts to a daily storage rate of $15.60.


� Docket No. 96M-031.


� We note that Custom indicates in its exceptions that it raises the constitutionality of § 40-13-107(2), C.R.S., here to preserve the issue on appeal.  We nonetheless reiterate the lack of jurisdiction of this Commission to determine the constitutional question, to avoid any confusion.
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